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PROJECT SIGN AND THE ESTIMATE OF THE SITUATION

MicHaEL D. Sworbps
Environmental Institute, Western Michigan University, Kalamazoo, Michigan 49008, U.S.A.

AsstracT: Upon becoming aware of the explosion of reports of anomal ous aerial phe-
nomenaover the United Statesin the summer of 1947, theU.S. Air Force becameal armed
andinstituted emergency studiesof the“flying disks.” Quickly thistask wasdelegated to
Wright-Patterson Air Force Base'sintelligence division, and in January 1948 became a
formal project, Sign. Sign investigated the phenomenon for seven months and decided
that it was best explained by the extraterrestrial (spacecraft) hypothesis(ETH).An Esti-
matewas produced for the Pentagon giving reasonsfor this. Elementsof very highrank in
the Pentagon would not accept this, and their refusal |ed to amajor debateonthe ETH,
whichresulted in the ultimate breakup of the Project Sign team and the destruction of all
(with perhaps one exception) copies of the document. This early confrontation set the
tonefor USAF behavior toward UFOsfor the next two yearsand, after abrief respitein
theeraof Capt. Edward Ruppelt, until the compl ete cessation of theformal USAF project
onthe phenomenonin 1969.

INTRODUCTION

Project Sign wasthefirst official, formal investigative body concerned withthe
mystery of unidentified flying objects. It wasaUnited StatesAir Force (USAF)
intelligenceactivity located at Wright-PattersonAir Force Basein Dayton, Ohio. Its
bureaucraticlocationwasinAir Materiel Command’'s(AMC) Intelligence Division,
referred to onthe baseasT-2. It operated formally for about oneyear, the calendar
year of 1948.

During that year Project Sign collected reports on alarge number of cases, con-
ducted someon-siteinvestigationsand many interviews, and attempted to analyze
the UFO phenomenonin any way available. By thefall of 1948 thelead personnel of
Sign decided that their investigations pointed to aconclusion. Aswas usually done
for any intelligenceanalysis, they then composed what the military called an“ Esti-
mate of the Situation” which they sent to their superiorsin the Pentagon. Their con-
clusion: Theflying-disk phenomenon was caused by extraterrestrial agencies.

Thiscreated agreat stir in the Pentagon. Authoritiestherewereunwilling to ac-
cept it. Thefallout of thisconsternation resulted in aquashing of thedocument, and
adenial tothepublicthat it had ever existed. Thispaper will attempt to detail the
origins, nature, and functioning of Project Sign, aswell asthereasonsfor thecre-
ation, quashing, and denial of the now-famous Estimate.
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THE SUMMER OF 1947

TheJune 24,1947, sighting of ninedisksnear Mt. Rainier, Washington, by |daho
businessman KennethArnold started aflurry of reportsthat began the modern eraof
UFOsightings. At first, themilitary did not takethesereportstoo seriously, but they
changed their mindsconsiderably in about oneweek’s time. Thischange of attitude
wasdueto the continued stream of disk reports, many by their own pilotsand per-
sonnel. Infact, the first week of July 1947 had created considerable excitement
within the offices of the Pentagon, with theAir Force Directorate of Intelligence
scrambling to make sense of these mysteriousoverflightsand enlisting the aid of
their bases, other services, and the FBI (Fitch, 1947).

Gen. GeorgeMcDonald wasdirector of intelligencefor Chief of Staff Gen. Carl
Spaatz. But heand Spaatz seemingly played noroleinthisstory. Thereal energy at
the top of theAir Force’scommand seemsto have been Spaatz’sjunior executive
and incoming replacement, Gen. Hoyt Vandenberg. McDonald, too, seemed to be
slipping toward retirement aswell ashisWorldWar || mentor and friend, and much
of the action at the Directorate was handled by his executive officer, Brig. Gen.
George Schulgen. McDonald and Schulgen presided over the Directorate when it
was adjusting to postwar changes and the newness of theAir Forceitself (soonto
achieveformal independencefromtheArmy).

TheDirectorate had several divisionsof which two played major rolesregarding
UFOs.! The primary offices at the Pentagon involved those of the Directorate of
Intelligence (AFOIN) and certainlocationsin thetwo other divisions, theAir Force
Officeof Intelligence Requirements (AFOIR) and theAir Force Office of Air Intel-
ligence (AFOAL).

Theformer had more of aservicefunction, and included theimportant Collec-
tionsbranch (AFOIR-CO). Inthisoffice wefind the executive officer, Col. Robert
Taylor, and hisright-hand man and chief collector of UFO information, Lt. Col.
George D. Garrett. Acting Chief Garrett would stay inthisposition at | east to theend
of 1949. Hewould be aveteran source of continuity through thisearly UFO era, and
apersonin sympathy with theideathat the flying diskswerereal, technol ogical
objects. AFOIR seemsto have been asource of individual s sympathetic to taking
UFOsseriously, asitincluded not only Garrett and Taylor, but Col. Frank Dunnin
the main office (who would become Captain Ruppelt’s open-minded superior at
Wright-Patterson) and Col . (then Major) W. A . Adams of the Documentsand Dis-

L All officeshad | etter designators, the “al phabet soup” of military focal points, and thesewerein
theprocessof changing. I’ [l givethe designatorsthat applied through most of thisearly UFO period as
examplesof therelevant organizational structure. Inthe summer and fall of 1947, USAF used a set of
designatorsbeginningwith“ AFB” for the Pentagon and “ TSD” for the T-2 intelligence offi ce at Wright-
Patterson. These designatorsall changed in about December 1947, were tweaked agai n by early 1950,
and totally changed again by thetime Project Blue Book Director Capt. Edward Ruppelt took over in
late 1951. | givethe structural designatorsfor the late 1947-1950 period below. Thereal organiza-
tional format seemsto have remained essentially the same.
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Organizational Chart, USAF Intelligence, ca. 1948

ThePentagon’sDirectorate of Intelligence was undergoing areorganizationin 1947—
1952. Much change al so occurred in the executive positionsof AFOIN,AFOAI, andits
branches. The chart bel ow isrepresentative of thetype of structureand staff asit was
inthe 1948 Project Sign period.

Commanding General,
U.S.AirForce
Gen. Hoyt Vandenberg

Director of Intelligence,
Officeof Intelligence
(AFOIN)

Gen. Charles Cabell

Executive Officer, Executive Officer,
Officeof Intelligence Office of Airlntelligence
Requirements (AFOIR) (AFOALI)
Lieut. Col. WIton Earle Brig. Gen. Ernest Moore
Executive Officer, Executive Officer, Executive Officer,
CollectionsBranch Air Estimates DefensiveAir Branch
(AFOIR-CO) (AFOAI-AE) (AFOAI-DA)
Col. Robert Taylor Col. L. S Harris Cal. B. E. Allen
I I
CollectionsOfficer AnalysisOfficer
(assigned to UFO reports) (assigned to UFO reports)
Lieut. Col. George Garrett Maj. Aaron J. Boggs

semination office (who asMaj. Dewey Fournet’s bossin the Pentagon would be-
comeastrong proponent of theextraterrestrial hypothesisin 1952. (Fournet wasthe
Pentagon’s chief UFO officerin 1952.)

Ontheother side at the Pentagon wasAir Intelligence. Thiswasmorean analysis
division. FromitsDefensiveAir branch (AFOAI-DA) and certain elementsinthe
main officeandAir Estimates (AFOAI-AE) cameconsistently negativeviewsabout
theflying disks, particularly about theextraterrestrial hypothesisbut to somedegree
eventotheir existenceat all. AFOAI-DA seemsto have been in part almost aspin-
doctoring office, fixated on manipul ating analysesand conclusionsto havethe proper
effect and appropriate action. Thiswastherealm of the saucer-killing Maj.Aaron J.
(Jerry) Boggsand Col. E. H. Porter, avery supportive superior who becamedirector
of estimates. Boggsstayed inthisposition along timeand Porter wasstill therein
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Organizational Chart, USAF Air Materiel Command, ca. 1948

Likethe USAF Directorateof Intelligence, theIntelligence DivisionatAMC went
through major restructuring in 1947-1952. The partial organizational chart below is
generally accuratefor 1948, theyear that Project Sign formally existed.

Commanding General,
Air Materiel Command
(MCG)

Gen. Joseph McNarney

Personnel and Operations |_| Deputy Commanding |_| Engineering
T-1 General, Intelligence T-3
T-2(MCI)

Col. Howard M. McCoy
I

Collections .| Chief ExecutiveOfficer, |_| Documents
IntelligenceAnalysis
Division(MCIA)
Col. Wiliam Clingerman

|

Operations .| Chief ExecutiveOfficer, |_| Officeof the

AnalysisSection (MCIAT) Technical Assistant
Lieut. Col. Miles E. Goll

I

Equipment and Special ProjectsBranch AircraftAnalysisand
Propulsionbranches [ (MCIAXO) | ElectronicsAnalysis
Maj. Raymond Llewellyn

I
Variousprojects L Project Sign Variousprojects
(MCIAXO-3)
Capt. Robert Sneider

1952. The Pentagon wasasplit house on UFOsfrom the beginning.

At Wright-Patterson AFB, the Commanding General of AMC Nathan Twining
presided over the USAF stechnical research and devel opment operation (called T-3,
or AMC-Engineering), aswell asthetechnical intelligence group MCIA, or T-2.
Thesetwo functionswerein separate partsof the base: T-3 engineering was onWright
Field, and T-2intelligence wastucked away in an outer areaof Patterson. T-2 could
call uponT-3labsand expertsfor help with analysisof reports.

Thedirector of intelligenceat AMC was Col. Howard M. McCoy. Anexcellent
engineer (knownas“Mr. Propeller” in hisprewar daysintheengineering division),
M cCoy wasal so an experienced intelligence man, having donefieldwork in Europe
to bring back the remains of German aviation technol ogy and some of their techni-
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cal libraries. McCoy’sintelligencedivision was set up to analyzereports of apoten-
tial or real enemy’sair power. Themain part of the operation wastheintelligence-
analysisdivision (MCIA: Material Command IntelligenceAnalysis). Thisgroup’s
executiveofficer was Col. William Clingerman, afineengineer and intelligence of -
ficer who personally investigated what was perhapsthefirst instance where Wright-
Patterson wasordered by the Pentagon to send personnel to the site of aUFO case, at
Harmon Field, Newfoundland.

MCIA wasbrokeninto two sections: MCIAT (thetechnical analysissection) and
MCIAQ (theoperationssection). Under MCIAT wereseveral branches(e.g., aircraft
analysis, foreignliaison, guided missiles, special analysis, and special projects). The
latter branch wasacatchall office where ad hoc projectscould arise. It would be-
comethelocation of the flying-disk team, Project Sign. These officeswerefairly
fluidwithregard to theactual work of their staff. Many officerssigned off on docu-
mentsas*“ acting chief” of MCIAT and for Clingerman asM CIA. Albert Deyarmond,
afriend and war colleague of M cCoy, worked out of Clingerman’s office, was as-
signed to Project Sign, and could be seen writing | ettersand signing off for officers
all up and down theT-2structure.

Butinthesummer of 1947 theformal operation called Project Signwasnot yetin
existence. Reportsof flying diskswerecoming from everywhere, but theinvestiga-
tion of thesereportswas disorganized. The Pentagon, through Schulgen, responded
first asthenatural focal point. AFOIR-COwasgiventheinitial responsibility inthe
person of Lt. Colonel Garrett. He, Taylor, and Schulgen began to try to get their
basestoinvestigate notable cases and forward thereports. They also enlisted the
FBI, who assigned Special Agent S.W. Reynoldsastheliaison. They beganworking
furiously on thisthroughout July, involving Wright-Patterson now and then by di-
rect communication withMcCoy.

AsJuly wore onintoAugust, Garrett, Schulgen, and Reynolds became confused
by alack of interest and pressure emanating from the high echel ons of the Pentagon.
Thepreviousyear they had gone through an investigative furor about asubject that
they considered to be similar to the flying discs, when hundreds of “ ghost rocket”
reports came out of Sweden and other European countries. In 1946, thetop brass
had exerted continuous pressureto find an answer, but now it had gone compl etely
quiet. Thispuzzling void hasbeen termed “the silencefrom topside.” It wasvery
peculiar to Garrett and the FBI. Their mutual suspicionwasthat thevery highest
officialsknew what thisphenomenon wasalready (Swords, 1991).

THE RESPONSE TO THE SILENCE

Agent Reynoldsfelt that it wasawaste of personnel and resourcesto engageina
nationwide goose chase to find out what the Pentagon high brass already knew.
Garrett agreed: It wasno more useful for the USAF towasteitstime. Garrett and
Schulgen decided to placetheissue squarely beforethe peoplewho should know.
They were certainthat theresponsewould be: “ Yes, fellows, we believe that wedo
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understand precisely what these disk reportsareall about, and you really don’'t need
topursueitany longer.” I nstead, the chain of communi cationswould ultimately lead
totheestablishment of Project Sign.

Garrett decided to broach this question of thewild goose chasein concert witha
preliminary intelligence Estimate on the nature of the disksthat hewould write.
During late July 1947, Garrett had collected and sifted hisflying-disk casereports
and selected 16 (two morewere added later) from which to make his Estimate. We
can visualize himsitting at his desk in the Pentagon, the case reports spread out
before him ordered by date, marking each front pagewith alargecircled number,
and beginning to extract the pattern that he saw. What Garrett concludedinthisfirst
informal USAF Estimatewasasfollows (seeAppendix 1 for thefull text):

From detailed study of reports sel ected for their impression of veracity

andreliability, several conclusionshavebeenformed:

(@ This“flyingsaucer” situationisnot all imaginary or seeing too
much in some natural phenomenon. Somethingisreally flying
around.

(b) Lack of topsideinquiries, when compared to the prompt and de-
manding inquiriesthat have originated topside upon former events,
givemorethan ordinary weight to the possibility that thisisado-
mestic proj ect, about which the President, etc. know.

(c) Whatever the objectsare, thismuch can be said of their physical
appearance:

1. Thesurfaceof these objectsismetallic, indicatingametallic
skin, at least.

2. When atrail isobserved, itislightly colored, aBlue-Brown
haze, that issimilar to arocket engine’sexhaust. Contrary toa
rocket of the solid type, oneobservationindicatesthat thefuel
may bethrottled whichwould indicatealiquid rocket engine.

3. Astoshape, all observationsstatethat the objectiscircular or
at least elliptical, flat onthe bottom and slightly domed on the
top. Thesizeestimatesplaceit somewherenear thesizeof aC-
54 or aConstellation.

4. Somereportsdescribetwo tabs, located at the rear and sym-
metrical about the axisof flight motion.

5. Flightshavebeenreported, from threeto nine of them, flying
good formation on each other, with speeds always above 300
knots.

6. Thediscsoscillatelaterally whileflyingalong, which could be
snaking. [Garrett, 1947]

Garrett’s 16-case (later 18-case) study wasreported tothe FBI and to hissuperiors
in Schulgen’s office. They then began using the study to query the research and
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development areas of the armed services: Arethese devicesour owntechnology?
Areweflyingthem?Everyone, including USAF Chief of Research and Devel op-
ment Gen. CurtisLeMay, said no. Schulgen passed on LeMay’s assessment. His
exact wordswere:

A completesurvey of research activitiesdisclosesthat theArmy Air
Forceshasno project with the characteristicssimilar to thosewhich
have been associated with the Flying Discs. [ Schulgen, 19474a]

TheFBI had contacted their sourcesintheArmy and had received the samereply.
Wedon't have similar documentation for the Navy, but the man who wasto become
theleading civilian UFO researcher of the 1950sand 1960s, retired Marine Major
Donald E. Keyhoe, made hisowninquiry of hispersonal friend, Adm. CalvinBol-
ster (naval chief of aeronautical research), and wasal sotold that no such naval project
existed (Keyhoe, 1950, p. 44).

Thisseemed peculiar—advanced technology flyingin U.S. air spacethat none of
the serviceswasresponsiblefor, and yet thevery high brassnot particularly ner-
vous. Maybetherewas something so new going on at Wright-Patterson that even
LeMay hadn’t yet been briefed. So, asalast resort, General Twining got the Garrett
Estimate and thenormal inquiry, probably in lateAugust.

Twining passed theinquiry onto McCoy, Maj. Gen. Alden Crawford (chief of
T-3), Gen. F. O. Carroll (director of research and development), Col. C. K. Moore
(aircraft laboratory chief), Col. Russell Minty (power-plant |aboratory chief), and
Brig. Gen. Edgar Sorenson (Air Institute of Technology commander). They each
studied Garrett’sreport, and held aconference on the disks sometimein mid-Sep-
tember. Twining reported theresultsto Schulgen (and thereby to Garrett and the
FBI) on September 23, 1947 (Twining, 1947).

Wedon't havethe polished Garrett report to compare with the Twining letter, but
it appearsthat Twining's expertsessentially agreed with Garrett’sanalysis. They
added the observationsthat sound israrely heard coming from the disks, and that
their performance characteristicsindicatethat they are controlled objects. T-3 was of
the opinion that something like thiscould be built with long-range but slow-speed
capabilities, butit would bevery expensive. AM C admitted ignorance of the nature
of thedisks, confirmed that they woul d continueto monitor reports, and suggested
that an official project beformed to get to the bottom of the phenomenon. Thiswas
thelast of the“wedon’t know” admissions. The Pentagon agreed that aformal project
should beinitiated.

WRIGHT-PATTERSON AND THE GERMAN/SOVIET THEORY

When the Pentagon firstinvolved AM C intelligenceintheflying-disk problem
(probably about mid-July), T-2 chief M cCoy began thinking about the possibility of
German aeronautical technology. Thisisshown inthefollowing sequence of events
documented inthe USAF sProject Blue Book files:
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1. OnJuly 10, civilianworkersat theair base at Harmon Field, Newfoundland,
watched adisk-shaped object cut itsway through thecloud cover and leavebehind a
powerful-looking “exhaust trail.” Picturesweretaken.

2. OnJuly 16, aformal initial report was made by abaseintelligence officer. This
wasfollowed by amoredetailed report on July 21 that was sent to the Pentagon.
(Notethat Wright-Patterson was not yet considered any sort of focal point for disk
reports.)

3. ThePentagon assessed thereport and then got excited about it. Schulgen or-
dered McCoy (about July 28-29) to send atop-level assessment team to Harmon
Field“immediately,” and for themto go directly to him at the Pentagon afterwards.

4. McCoy’snotes, possibly from aPentagon phonecall, indicatethat histeam had
been asked earlier to do someassessment of thesedisk reports. Hewrote, “What has
Clingerman [hishead of analysisat T-2] prepared?’ and “What hasBrentnall [ chief
of T-3engineering] prepared?”’

5. McCoy’snotesalsoindicate hisconcern with Germantechnology. “ Interview
Hugo Eckener. Goodyear. What L/A [lighter-than-air capability] doesRussiahave?
German-Russian Type. What plans & potentialities?”

Nothing would be more natural than for McCoy to be concerned with German
technology. Hismainjobin 1945 had beenretrieving it from German sites, and he
had al so hel ped bring back ahuge German air technical library to Wright Field.
Althoughitissaidthat he had nothing to do with Operation Paperclip (the place-
ment of Nazi scientistsin hi-tech U.S. labs), he obviously knew wherethese people
were.Andright in hisown organization’slibrary wasthe secret T-2 manual onthe
so-called Horten flying wings, themost radical of which had adistinct resemblance
tothedisks (USAFAMC, 1946).

Alsoworking for McCoy intheT-2 analysisdivisionwasAlfred C. Loedding, a
design engineer onloan from the T-3 engineering division. L oedding had long been
interestedinlow-aspect and disk-shaped airplanedesigns, and had produced acouple
himself (L oedding, 1948). Hewasintrigued with thedisk reports, and was sure that
such designs could be madeto fly. He soon became M cCoy and Clingerman’sliai-
son to the Pentagon on these matters. By lateAugust, M cCoy seemsto havealready
gottenthehint that flying-disk i nvestigationswoul d be shifted to Wright-Patterson
from the Pentagon and he asked for ameeting between L oedding, Garrett, and Dr.
CharlesCarroll (McCoy, 1947a). Carroll, amathematicsand missiles expert, had
been making somekind of analysisof flying-disk activities. (Onewonders, admit-
tedly abitidly, whether thiswasthe beginning of theanalysismentioned by Project
Signayear later, correlating diskswith near approaches of planetary bodies.) As
L oedding becameastrong supporter of theextraterrestrial hypothesis(ETH) for the
disks, and Garrett al ready wasastrong proponent of their reality and extreme unusu-
alness, they could haveformed the core of the ETH-friendly faction.

Themeeting took placein the Pentagon on September 5, and Pentagon disk files
weretransferred toWright-Patterson shortly thereafter. Therefore, even beforeTwin-
ing wrote hisfamous September 23 | etter eval uating the disk problem and suggest-
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ingaformal intelligence project at the Dayton base, the matter had been decided.

The Twining letter (“AMC Opinion Concerning Flying Discs”) waswritten by
McCoy from hisown and T-2's perspective. Not knowing what hewasdealing with,
he offered two hypotheses: avery high security project that even he, Brentnall, or
LeMay didn’t know about; or aproject, maybe even nuclear, devel oped by “ some
foreign nation.” Hewasthinking mainly of German scientistsworking for the Sovi-
ets. Hewanted all thetop scientific gunsin onthis; theAtomic Energy Commission,
NACA (NASA’spredecessor), the Rand think tank, the Nuclear Engine Propulsion
Aircraft project, and others. He promised adetail ed “ Essential Elementsof Informa-
tion” (EEI intelligencerequirements) to beformulatedimmediately, so that al| agen-
cieswould have guidance on what to ook for (Twining, 1947).

Exactly when thisEEI waswrittenisunknown, but in about amonthit wasdistrib-
uted within the European Command by Lt. Col. Malcolm Seashore, former acting
chief of MCIAT under McCoy and Clingerman (Schulgen, 1947b). The EEI covered
all the expected bases of anintelligence operation concerned about the use of ex-
Nazi technology and engineersby Soviet projects. It wasespecially concerned with
the samethingsthat had been worrying McCoy and L oedding inAugust: the Ger-
man engineersWalter and Reimar Horten and their disk-likeflying technologies. Its
description of thedisksinflight were, of course, the same asthosein the Twining
letter, which were mainly those originally determined by Garrett at the Pentagon. A
few descriptorswere added, which must have made theideaof a German-Soviet
craft seemvery unlikely: the ability to almost hover, quickly disappear, group to-
gether very quickly, and “ suddenly appear without warning asif from an extremely
highaltitude.” All these new elementsappeared inaDecember Pentagon estimation,
rewritten from asimilar Pentagon document of October 6. Thisindicatesthat radar
detection of disksover Fukuoka, Japan, played aroleinfurther concerning theAir
Forceabout great maneuverability (McDonald, 1947).2

2 Asanimportant sidebar to thisdiscussion, avery nefarious misuse of the October 6 EEI by McCoy
hasbeen uncovered (Todd, 1997). Anunknownindividual, apparently whileinvestigating declassified
Pentagon documentsabout the Horten brothers, seemsto havetaken thisoriginal EEI and constructed
afakeversion of it. The fakeis dated the same as the October EEI, called a*“draft” instead of the
completed official document distributed by Seashore, and attributed to Schulgeninstead of to McCoy
and Wright Field. The contents are largely | eft intact, undoubtedly on the theory that agood lieis
always shrouded inthetruth, but several deletionsand additions occur. Thismanufactured fakewas
then somehow slipped back into thefilesto be discovered | ater by trusting ufologistswho don’t have
such dishonest minds. When FOI A requests|ater included the fake al ongside original accurate mate-
rial, researchersnaturally (including myself) were misled by theinclusions. This somewhat sick be-
havior pointsout yet another difficulty confronting scholarstrying to piecetogether genuine historical
accounts of what took place behind the mirror of secrecy inthemilitary. Theunfortunate part of thisis
that thefaked edition alleged that the USAF was having doubtsin thefall of 1947 about the German-
Soviet hypothesis and that some personnel were seriously considering the ETH. Thetragedy of this
hoax, | believe, isthat it hel psscuttlewhat wasin fact the true situation. The genuine October 6 memo
(rewrittenin December 1947, and al so genuine) indicatesthat by December the USAF wasin serious
doubt about the German hypothesis, yet strongly believed in areal “puzzling problem.” They reas-
serted that the objectswere not oursand didn’t seem to be “theirs” either. Given what L oedding and
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Since September theintelligence department at Wright-Patterson had taken the
lead responsibility for flying-disk analysiswithout having an official project or the
material support that aspecial task would bring. Now the time had cometo quit
handling thisasan add-on job, and becometruly organized. Theball beganrolling
inearly December, when LeMay made arequest for information on the status of
flying-disk analysis. Pentagon Colonel J. . Olive (chief of AFOAI) and Lt. Col. J. E.
Thomas of the OffensiveAir section (AFOAI-OA) got thejob. By December 18,
Oliveand Thomashad completed their reanalysis of the earlier documentsfromthe
Pentagon and Wright-Patterson, rewritten anew Estimateindicating apotentially
seriousbut puzzling phenomenon, and turned thisover to Chief of Air Forcelntelli-
genceMcDonaldfor hissignature. Also signing off onthisdocument were Garrett’s
chief at AFOIR-CO and the new chief of AFOIR, Gen. Charles Cabell, who was
being groomed to succeed McDonald. Around Christmas, the official | etter wasac-
tually passed to LeMay recommending that Wright-Patterson shoul d get an official
flying-disk project, and that LeMay should formally notify the commanding general
there. Asitturned out, LeMay had just been replaced by Gen. LaurenceC. Craigie,
who sent the formal word to Wright-Patterson to establish Project Sign on Decem-
ber 30, 1947 (Craigie, 1947).

ProsEct SieN AND ITs WORK

Signwasimmediately organized asaspecial project under theTechnical Analysis
section of T-2. The name seemsto have caught on alot quicker than the al phabet-
soup technical designation, but whether it was Sign or MCIA X O-3, the casesbegan
toappear in Daytonto beanalyzed. They landed onthe desksof thefoll owing people:

1. Capt. Robert R. Sneider, the project chief.

2. Loedding, theT-3 veteran engineer.

3. LawrenceTruettner, acivilian engineer workingon missileanalysisat T-2in
the samecorridor.

4. Deyarmond, thecivilianintelligenceanalyst in Clingerman’s office who had
been aWW 1 field buddy of McCoy in Germany.

Thesefour peoplewould be considered the coregroup of theproject. Hel ping this
corewere:

5. Maj. Raymond LIewellyn, the chief of the special projectsbranch of MCIAT.

6. Lt. HowardW. Smith.

7. George W. Towles, acivilian.

8. Occasional others(e.g., Chief of Special AnalysisNicholasPost and John (Red)
Honaker of McCoy'’s office) when needed. The project had the authority to ask any
lab onthebasefor help, occasional field support (pilotsor equipment), and contacts

Sign believed (the ETH) about one-half year later, isit not likely that the faked phrase of the hoax
document (“it isthe considered opinion of some elements that the object may in fact represent an
interplanetary craft of somekind”) isan accurate assessment? Sadly, due to the malfeasance of some
scoundrel, it makesthis case moredifficult to defend.
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with outside experts. We do not know how much direct interest M cCoy took inthe
work.

Althoughthe project did not officially begin until later in January, Sign did not
havelongtowait foritsfirst big case. It took placeon January 7, 1948, and possibly
produced more consternation and thelongest after-eff ect of any other: the crash and
death of national-guard pilot Capt. ThomasMantell. The consensus of the UFO com-
munity today isthat Mantell died while pushing hisplaneand himself toohardina
chase of athen-secret balloon called a Skyhook. Though thisisalmost certainly true,
itwasn't at all obviousin 1948. From the viewpoint of 1948 and Project Sign, here
arewhat therelevant facts seemed to be:

1. Ground personnel fromavariety of locationswere seeing adisk-likeobjectin
the sky.

2. Four national-guard planesweredirectedtoit, threeclosed, and Mantell wasin
hot pursuit.

3. Mantell believed that thetarget was moving asfast ashisplane.

4. |t seemedto shineasif made of areflecting substancelikeglassor metal.

5. Mantell wasquoted, “[it] looks metallic and of tremendoussize.”

6. Afterthecrashandinvestigation, the USAF (not Project Sign) said that Mantell
had been chasing the planet Venus. No oneinvolved withtheinvestigation at Sign
believed that, and in November 1948 they werestill puzzling over this. Deyarmond
wrotethat thisclearly wasnot Venus, and the case was unexplained.

Itiseasy to see how the Mantell case would get the project off to an excited but
erroneous start. Thisincident highlightstwo important characteristics of the era:
reason to believethat the UFO phenomenon was extremely interesting (and unex-
plained), and reason to disbelieve things said publicly by the Pentagon about UFO
explanations. One wonders whether the project team felt that the Mantell object
could havebeen theresult of a Soviet-German secret project. Thethought of ahuge
metallic disk leaving afighter planebehind at high altitudewasindeed an unsettling
vision.

During the early months of the project another puzzling element added itself to
themystery: The UFOs appeared to be atruly worldwide phenomenon. Although
there had been non-U.S. casespreviously (and there had been amajor wave of aerial
anomaliesin Europe, especially Scandinavia) in 1946, these were few in number
and conveniently placed geographically so that the Soviet-German theory could be
rationalized. Now reports seemed to betricklinginfrom everywhere. Casesin Fin-
land, Denmark, Germany could berationalized; but what about the Philippines, Para-
guay, and the mid-Pacific? Of course, any report that didn’t fit in could bewrong.

A second casethat interested Sign occurred on February 18, 1948. LikeMantell’s
Skyhook balloon, thiswasnot aUFO, but itisworth describing for other reasons.
The casewas of aspectacular exploding bolide over Norcatur, Kansas.

Concussionfromtheblast brokewindows, rocked buildingsandterri-
fied residentsover awide section of Kansas, Nebraska, and Oklahoma.
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.. . Thesmoketrail started over Nebraskato the north and ran south-
ward, twisting over uponitself in“jelly-rolls” likethevapor trail of a
planeout of controal. ...

Many peoplebelievedthat ajet airplane had exploded instead of a
meteor. Scientists, army officersand other officialssaid that wasim-
possiblebecause of the extremealtitude of the explosion. Some people
blamed the explosionon“ flying saucers.”

TwoArmy B-29 bomberscircled over theareauntil nightfall, but
thearmy did not issue astatement. [United Press, 1948]

Onecould seehow aUSAF intelligence project that did not view “ extreme alti-
tude” assome sort of impossiblecriterion and who were considering air technol o-
gieswithunusually powerful enginesmight beinterested. Maybeit wasbecausethe
project was new or that theArmy wasalready involved or just that our recordsof the
caseareincomplete, but theinvestigation by Sign seemsincompetent. Theinvesti-
gation seemsto have consisted of':

1. Aninterview and correspondencewith Oscar E. Monnig, aknowledgeable ama-
teur meteorite buff who wasnot directly involved with either theevent itself or the
meteorite-fragment hunt at all. Thiswastheonly direct interview by T-2, and oc-
curred dueto an accidental coincidenceof Maj. MelvinW. Faulk (of Clingerman’s
office) just happening to haveatraining flightinthevicinity (Faulk, 1948).

2. Photographsof smoketrailsof known meteoriteswere collected to compareto
the Norcatur smoketrail.

3. USAF ScientificAdvisory Board personnel associated with research and de-
velopment were apparently contacted for help. Someone, possibly geophysicist
Helmut Landsberg, contacted meteoriticist Lincoln LaPaz for an assessment.

4. Suggestionsfromacitizen, Norman G. Markham, were passed from theArmy
toUSAFand LaPaz, asif they should betaken seriously, and somelocal interviews
werealso provided.

5. LaPazwroteabrief reportinApril, and the Monnigwrotealetterin May. This
completed theinvestigation.

It was poor judgment not to send a project investigator to the site or work with
L aPaz (or whatever expertswereavailable) tointerview witnessesand | ook for de-
bris. No one from Wright-Patterson seemsto have goneto Norcatur, talked person-
ally with LaPaz (or with H. H. Nininger, who finally discovered fragments of the
largest stony meteorite found up to that time), or got any direct evidence at all.
Moreover, it wasnot at all certain that they were dealing with abolide.

For example, theletter from LaPaz inApril 1948 contained thefollowing facts:

1. LaPazbelievedthat the“flyinglenses” were 99% hoax and imagination but 1%real.

2. HebelievedtheNorcatur object wasabolide, but he could not be certain: “ not
atrace of meteoritic material hassofar beenfound.”

3. Anunusual number of such experienceshad produced no meteoritefindsand
he wondered what was going on. Could it be that “many of thefireballs are not
meteoritesat all ?’
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4. “Thesituation criesaloudfor thorough investigation” (LaPaz, 1948).

L aPaz wasal so puzzled by thetestimony of witnesseswho reported artificial ob-
jectsinassociation with the case. Onewitnessbelieved that abattery-likething fell
fromthesky “too hot to handle” just after the expl osion; another witnessbacked him
up. Fiveindividuals, including threein the tower at McCook Field in Nebraska,
reported adark object likeamissilewith ajet coming out the back. All specifically
denied that the object waslike ameteor. Andfinally, aprominent farmer of good
character who lived near Stockton, Kansas, gave amazing testimony of what we
wouldtoday call aclose encounter of thefirst kind: aclose-range observation show-
ing clear structural details. Becausethismaterial issorarely seen by ufologists, it
might be of interest to recount farmer L eland Sammons’sdescriptioninfull:

On February 18 at about 5 PM., | was standing near my hog-pen about
100’ east of my house, when | heard the pheasants raising a distur-
bance and the chickensall rushed to the chicken-house. | looked around
toward the houseto seewhat was causing it and saw something hover-
ingjust abovethehouse. | rantoward the house, and it then lowered
over thenorth end of the house and settled toward the ground. | was
thenvery near it, approximately 6' when it stopped about level with
my face, and just wobbled around for aninstant, fire bel ching out of it
and sucking back in. Thething was about 4' |ong, shaped something
likeafunnel. Therewasapipe sticking out the back of it, and once as
it wobbled around, the pipewas sticking right at my belly. Suddenly
therewasalot of sparksshowered fromit, andthefireincreased asif a
fusemight havelighted, and it took off in anorth-westerly direction
very fast, gaining altitudeasit went. My wifeheard it leave and ran out
wherel stood, and wewatched it go, leaving atrail of smokeall the
way. Suddenly therewasagreat cloud of smokeinthe sky, not more
than 40 secondsafter it left my yard, and in afew secondsor more, we
heard an explosion. | then stepped off from my houseto whereit had
been, and it wasfivesteps. Yes, it washot, | could feel theheat fromit.
Had | not been washing my car prior to the occurrence, wetting the
ground, therewould have been abare spot intheyard wherethething
started up becausetherewasagreat rush of firefromitwhenitleft. It
must have been quite highwhenit exploded. [Cox, 1948]

Oneof LaPaz’'s colleagues had interviewed Sammons, and believed himto “ be
sincereand very badly scared.” One can almost feel L aPaz scratching hishead be-
tweenthelinesof hisletter asheasks: How could abolide create such areportina
mature and sincere person such as Sammons?

Inadditionto all thiswasextensive correspondence by Norman G. Markham, the
first piece of which was sent to theArmy Chief of Staff on February 20 (Markham,
1948). Markham wasalover of anomalies, aFortean, and hefelt that he had cal cu-
lated aconnection between the Norcatur event and the position of themoon. Markham
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suggested that perhapsthe moonwasinhabited and that flying objectsvisiting earth
comefromthere. Several other past eventswere cited to buttresshisviews. This
correspondencewasnot discarded asobviously crackpot. It went fromtheArmy to
theAir Forceto Signtothe Scientific Board to LaPaz. Although LaPaz believed
Markham'’sviewsto befantastic, he noted that Markham was correct to call atten-
tion to certain unexplained incidents, possibly of real flying disks. Onewonders
whether Project Sign’sstatements six monthslater—that they had been plotting disk
reportsinrelationtothe positionsof planetary bodies (and finding correl ations)—
stemfromMarkham'’slettersinthiscasefile.

Whatever we have hereinthe Norcatur case, theinvestigation seemspoorly per-
formed. Therewerenodirect interviewsor other fieldwork, and the meteorite expla-
nation wasaccepted on aletter from the uninvol ved amateur, not adirect report from
Nininger or LaPaz. No crater wasever found or photographed and placed inthefile.
And (thisisthe most telling aspect) the pattern of ignoring inconvenient contrary
witnesstestimony was quietly condoned. What of the five “rocket” witnesses or
Leland Sammons? It seemed that no one cared. But why this attitude, given the
alleged concern at thetimes?

Thenext case activity worth citing wasApril 5, 1948, at HollomanAFB in New
Mexico. Threehighly trained balloon observers, including the project leader, J. W.
Peoples, wereworking on asecret project for theAir Force’'s Watson Laboratories.
They saw two objects. One observer followed one object, and the othersfollowed
the second object asthey diverged. All were certain that the objectsweren’t bal -
loons. They werelarge, whitish, roundish, very high, faster than any aircraft, and
performing rapid, erratic motion. Oneobject waslost low. Theother went up quickly
and seemedto just disappear. Thiscasewasdeemedimportant enoughto send L oed-
ding and one of Clingerman’sassistants, Lt. Col. J. C. Beam, to New Mexicoto
interview Peoplesandtheothers. Unfortunately, the withesseswere gonewhen Sign
arrived. (They werelater interviewed at Watson L absin New Jersey.) Thewitnesses
werevery sure of themselvesand the casewasclassed as“ Unidentified.”

Whileat Holloman, L oedding and Beam talked with a Lieutenant Markley who
had worked with the Watson team. Markley remembered one of them speaking of
unusual radar returnsfromtheir equipment, but later theWatson personnel said that
thesewere probably just “ angels” (spuriousechoe dueto atmospheric microstruc-
tures, insects, equipment falfunction, or other stimuli). Markley did report that UFOs
had been seen around Holloman often. He himself had seen adisk inAugust 1947
and flat, round aeroformson at | east two further occasions. Beam and L oedding
took asidetrip to Phoenix, Arizona, to check up on an old sighting that especially
interested L oedding: the July 4, 1947, case of ascooped-di sk aeroform photographed
by WilliamA. Rhodes. L oedding’sown viewsof alow-aspect, disk-likelifting body
undoubtedly resonated with the object depi cted inthe Rhodes photos, and thereport
of their interview isvery respectful. One might see thisinvestigation as merely
Loedding'sinterest, but it wasgenerally truethat Sign wasinterestedin all theevi-
dence, not just the caseswhich occurred “ yesterday.” At the end of their tripsBeam
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and L oedding suggested that it was prematureto place apermanent observing team
at Holloman, despite theamount of activity that seemed to have occurred there.

The Memphis, Tennessee, case of May 7, 1948, isworth abrief mention. Two
adult witnesses saw 50—-60 unusual objects, apparently moving very high and fast,
traveling in straight lineswith slight zigzagging. They seemed shiny, like bright
aluminum, with silvery trails. Beam also went out on this one. Threethings are
noteworthy about thiscase:

1. Astronomer Paul Herget of the Cincinnati Observatory said that he doubted
that these objectswere meteors.

2. Thiscasewasthefirstto mention J.Allen Hynek, then an astronomer at Ohio
State University, whom Herget recommended they talk to.

3. Ayear later, themilitary Research and Devel opment Board wasviewing such
observationsof luminous, “ definitely or possibly non-meteoritic,” objectsasimpor-
tant and requiring immedi ate action—including requesting thisparticul ar casefile.

Intheofficial Blue Book records, theAir Force unaccountably classed thiscaseas
a“meteor.” Perhapsit was, but the expertsappear onrecord asnot thinking so. The
assessment was probably not theoriginal thinking of the Sign office. Itismorelikely
thelate-1948 thinking of Allen Hynek, once hewasformally asked to make astro-
nomical determinations, when possible, for UFO reports. Hisstudy, whichwasmore
an embarrassment to himinlater years, would appear as an appendix to thereports
of projects Sign and Grudge, Sign’snew designationin 1949 (Hynek, 1949). Hynek
viewed hisjob inthesefirst case assessmentsas debunking. Hewasto get rid of
UFOsasany sort of exceptional anomaly even when the so-called explanation he
came up withwasahugestretch. He said that heoriginally enjoyed hisjob asade-
bunker (Hynek, 1973: 171-172; 1977: 34-38). Unfortunately thiswasacompletely
wrong-headed attitude, and it took him along timeto shakeit thoroughly and return
to aproperly objective analysisof casesasthey camein. Butin May and June of
1948, Hynek was not yet around to throw water and rocks at mysteries, so Sign
personnel probably viewed thisand the next three casesto bereal puzzlesrather
thanfoolishness, ignorance, or misperception.

Thenext case occurred between Plevhaand Miles City, Montana, on May 17.
Therewasonewitness, aprofessional man namedWilliamA. Bonnevillewho be-
lieved that reporting thisair intruder wasapatriotic duty. A bright whiteball, bril-
liantly illuminated (threetimesasbright asalocomotive'sheadlight would be), sailed
over the hillsfrom the northwest, and then to the south and back to the west, and
repeated these meanderingsfor 20 minutesuntil sailing away into adark cloud. No
soundscould beheard. A long, bright light shot out from beneath. Somewhat stunned
by thisperformance, thewitness stated (with the charming naivete of the 1940s):

... anything of thisnaturewhich weare not familiar with weare duty
bound to report to our Defense Forceswho may be better equipped to
understand theunfamiliar thanweare.

Sign was probably asboggled by thisexperience asBonnevillewas. But later,
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someone was up to the task: The case was explained away as “refraction of the
planet Mars.” Thisexplanationisof interest not only because of itsapparent ridicu-
lousness, but becauseit is precisely the sort of idea continually used by Donald
Menzel (Harvard astronomer and arch-enemy of UFOsinthe 1950sand 1960s) in
hislater booksand articles (Menzel, 1953). Thisrefraction or mirage hypothesis
wasMenzel's siege gun. Almost any UFO case becameagameto find somebright
astronomical object inthegeneral direction of thewitness’ line of sight, and then
invoke misperception, ignorance, confusion, or rare atmospheric phenomenato ac-
count for thereport. But asfar aswe know Menzel was not consulting on any of
these 1948 cases. So wheredid thisexplanation comefrom?

INTERLUDE: J. ALLEN HYNEK AND SIGN

J. Allen Hynek formally became an astronomical consultant to Signin 1948. The
Plevna, Montana, explanationisonethat probably camefrom an astronomer. Thisis
agood placetotry to understand Hynek’srole, thoughit will not be possibleto do so
withany great certainty because of thelack of documentation concerning hisearliest
relationswith the project. But it does offer an important glimpse of theAir Force's
approachto UFO analysis.

We know that Hynek was officially tasked with studying UFO casesfor astro-
nomical explanationson December 16, 1948. ThiswasAir Materiel Command con-
tract W33-038-1118, thefinal report of which becamethe appendix for the Project
Grudgereport that largely debunked UFOsin 1949 (Hynek, 1949; USAFAMC,
1949b). We al so know that Herget suggested him asaconsultant to the project around
late May 1948. Sometime between these two dates, Hynek was signed on asaregu-
lar consultant and made“interimreports.” 1t soundsasif theideaof alarger formal
report (the Grudge appendix) wasalready in both Hynek’s and Wright-Patterson’s
mindinthe summer or fall of 1948. Still, Hynek said that he sent interim reports
earlier than hisformal study period. Thesereportswerelargely debunkinginnature
(Hynek, 1977: 15-17). Could Hynek himself have been the source of the“ refraction
of Mars” pseudoexplanationfor the Plevhacase?What anirony it would beif Hynek
himself initiated the pseudosci entific mirage hypothesisthat hewoul d so vehemently
criticizewhen touted by Menzel.

Let usfirst examinethekey characteristicsof the Plevnareport. The object wasan
extremely bright ball of light (brighter than the moon, and three timesbrighter than
alocomotive headlight) that flew through many viewing angles (north or northwest
through “ south of theroad”). Whoever was doing the anal ysismust have had ahard
time dealing with both thewide angular travel north to south and the extreme bright-
ness. How any refraction would allow Marsto pick up that much extraluminosity
should have given any astronomer pause. Hynek should have known better.

Inhisfinal report to Grudge he stated: “ If thisreport isto betaken onfacevalue,
then no astronomical explanation of thisincidentispossible.” Unfortunately, he con-
tinued:
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However, in seeking even aremote |l ogical explanation for theinci-
dent, the present investigator isimpressed with thefact that on this
very night, May 17, Venuswasat itsgreatest brilliancy, with amagni-
tude of —4.2, or about 100 timesbrighter than afirst magnitude star. It
would haveappeared that night asanintensely bright light inthenorth-
west. [Hynek, 1949: 151]

Thisstatement isof interest in several ways: Marsdoesn’t enter intoit; thelan-
guageisvery subdued, though it stretchesfor adebunking answer; and thereisa
subtle hint of Hynek’s (and the military’s?) fundamental mind-set. L et’scomment
on each of these characteristics.

ThisisaVenusanswer, not Mars. Hynek was quite ready to relegate many UFOs
to Venus (e.g., the Mantell case, even though Sign refused to buy that). Hynek’s
Venus propositiontried to deal withthebrightnesswhileignoring thetraveling ex-
cursion. Refractionisnever mentioned. Wherethen doestherefraction of Marscome
from?1tismy opinion that Hynek was blameless. Refraction and mirage explana-
tionswerenot hisstyle. Of the 200-plusanalysesin the Grudge appendix, only two
—case number 33 (Mantell) and 229—even hint of such aphenomenon, and the
word “refraction” appearsin neither place. In case number 148, with aVenusexpla-
nation crying out for himtotieupitslooseendswith refractions, henever resortsto
it. Hynek believed refractions of any spectacular kind to beveryrare, and eventhen
limited inwhat they could do (e.g., moveerratically about two or threelunar diam-
etersasin case 33). Sowheredid thisMenzelian answer comefrom?Herget?The
University of Dayton?A chanceinteractionwith Menzel ?We' |l probably never know.
It doesdemonstrateasad, early willingness on an unknown scientist’s part to grasp
for adebunking explanation wherever one could befound.

Unfortunately, Hynek’stentatively worded guess demonstrated the samething.
Hewasjust being more polite about it. He saw hisjob as explaining away UFO
reports. Histypical Grudge stylewasto makeasimpleand honestly defensibl e state-
ment, then (if thefirst statement didn’t explainthe case) launch into somelow-key
speculation. The latter often went well beyond the official descriptionsand well
outside hischarge of providing astronomical analyses. Heregularly specul ated on
balloons, aircraft, subjectivity, and you-name-it. Hismotives appear toliein sociol -
ogy.

Hynek’s memory of theAir Force consensus wasthat there weretwo contrary
schoolsof thought (Hynek, 1977: 13-14). One school, mostly at Wright-Patterson,
felt that UFOswerereal, technological, and, probably interplanetary. The second
school, amajority in the Pentagon and aminority at Wright-Patterson, felt that the
UFOswerenonsense. TheAir Force'selite ScientificAdvisory Board lined up on
the side of nonsense; and these were the Elders of theTribe of Scienceto which
Allen Hynek belonged.

It may bethat my interim reports hel ped the transformation of Project
Signinto the extremely negative Project Grudge, which took asits
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premisethat UFOssimply could not be. | tried hard to find astronomi-
cal explanationsfor asmany casesas| could, andinthosethat | couldn’t
| reached to draw out asmany natural explanationsas possible. Some-
times, | stretched toofar.

Clearly, I, too, thought at thetimethat UFOswerejust alot of non-
sense. | enjoyedtheroleof debunker. . . . [Hynek, 1977: 17]

Hynek’s mea cul pawoul d have done much to relievethe sting of hisearly unsci-
entific behavior inthismatter if no one had paid any attentionto him. Somedid not,
but othersdid. The coreteam at Project Sign apparently paid little or no mind to
Hynek’snegative analysesor interim reports: They werewell ontheir way totheir
famous Estimate of the Situation anditsinterplanetary conclusion. If Hynek influ-
enced bigger moversand shakers, like Clingerman and M cCoy, thereisno evidence
of it. Who then did he affect? Possibly he influenced the negative school in the
Pentagon, though thereisno direct evidence of this. The Pentagon-created anti-UFO
report of December 10, 1948 (USAFAID & USN ONI, 1948) shows nothing that
could be attributed to Hynek. He may well have spoken to histribesmen on the
ScientificAdvisory Board though, and in doing so reinforced their stance.

Thosewhowereclearly influenced by Hynek werethe peoplewho read the Grudge
report and who took over the UFO project after the sympathetic Sign team was
broken up and dispersed. The evidenceisabundant: It consists of the case eval ua-
tionswritten onthelower right-hand corners of the project’s cardsthat led off the
filesof eachindividual report. There, scrawled in the corners, one can get the di-
gested version of what the Grudge project was concluding about the cases: balloons,
Venus, meteors, aircraft. Usually these were stolen directly from Hynek’sreport.
Most regretfully, they werelifted from the speculation or stretch sections of each
case, even when it wasobviousthat Hynek didn’t think much of the explanation
himself. Hynek had been very helpful.

Onelast thing before getting back to Sign’shistory. Notethisphraseinthe Plevha
analysis: “in seeking even aremotelogical explanation.” A logical explanation. This
wasatelling phraseology. These casescouldn’t bewhat they seemed; thiswould not
be“logical.” Such objectswereirrational, unscientific; they could not make sense.
Thiswasprobably not only Hynek’srestricted mind-set, but the ScientificAdvisory
Board's intoto. It was something that we do not understand enough about scientists
and do not like to admit about them. Their curiosity isgreat; andit isrestricted
withinbroad but nearly ironclad limits. Outside of thoselimitsistherealmof illogic
andridicule. Evenin 1977, ashereminisced about hisearly sins, Hynek had still not
madethe completetransformation. Hestill spoke of “rationally” and * astronomi-
cally” asif one somehow defined the other (Hynek, 1973; 1977). HisGrudgereport,
withitsastronomical and oftenirrational comments, stood asarich source of expla-
nationsfor thingsnot explained, and doubtlesshe and histribesmen felt good about
it. What an odd and dangerousway to cometo conclusionson amatter of possible
national security interest.



SWORDS: PROJECT SIGN 45

SieN RoLLs on

Ignoring the negativeattitudes of consultantsand the Pentagon, the Signteamwas
moving toward thewatershed moment for the Project: the Chiles-Whitted case. We'll
taketwo brief stopsbeforearriving there. First, east of Monroe, Michigan, May 25,
1948. TwoAir Forceofficerswereflying aspassengersin anAir Force plane; one
saw three objectscomedown from aboveand level off, approximately evenwith the
plane and ahead of them. They werefuzzy-edged disks, and flying “ astern” (onein
line behind the other) and “ stepped up” (thosebehind slightly elevated in step fash-
ion). Theobjectswerein sight about 10-15 seconds, flew oppositethe plane’sdirec-
tion, took asharp right turn, and werelost to sight. Theviewer wasfascinated by this
anddidn’t call it to the other’sattentionuntil too late. Fortunately, momentslater, a
similar performancewas put on by two disksinstead of three. Both officers saw the
action thesecondtime.

The officersmadewildly different size estimates (showing the dangers of this
well-known subjective error when thereareno clear referents), but therest of the
descriptions matched. L ater for Grudge, Hynek followed his pattern: He said that
there was no astronomical explanation. Then he speculated freely about holesin
clouds, allowing apattern of isolated shaftsof sunlight to bounce off lower clouds
and cause perfect echel onreflectionsmoving opposite aircraft motion. The Grudge
debunker washappy towrite* Probablereflection” onthe caserecord card, despite
thefact that when Sign specifically asked for an opinion of thewitnessabout reflec-
tions, they received aflat “no.” Sign amost certainly felt that thiswasa UFO case.
Grudgelater “explained” it. Who knowswhat Hynek thought?

Next, Hecla, South Dakota, June 30, 1948. A husband and wifeweredriving and
saw an unusual “star” high inthe sky. The husband, an amateur astronomer and
engineer, stopped the car and they got out to look for awhile. Thestar, which they
were pretty surewasnot a star but amuch larger (in angular aspect) mass, was not
moving at all. They droveon, stopped again, and got otherstolook. Moredriving
and another stop. Thistime, something seemed to be happening. The mass, still
visually small, seemed to belarger and changing shape. A piece “fell off,” moved
away, and appeared likearound ball. Two more pieces now did the same, and moved
to positionsoff the central body, which formed aperfect equilateral triangle. All the
ballsand the central object looked like polished aluminum. The central object now
appeared like an aggregation of much smaller objectsthat dispersed and faded away.
Thethreeequilateral ballskept moving outward, alwayskeeping their perfect geom-
etry. Thenthey seemedto get smaller and fainter, asif rising to great height, and
vanished. Theastronomer-engineer said: “my convictionsat thispoint werethat it
could not beanythingterrestrial.”

Sign probably agreed. Hynek again did histhing: Thiswasnothing astronomical;
ontheother hand, “inall probability the object wasacluster of balloons, carrying,
perhaps, cosmicray apparatus.” The explanation waswithin the normal pattern of
Air Force explanationsfor the next 20 years: Find something sort of likewhat's
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described, ignore some awkward elements, say “maybe,” and count it explained.
Theignored awkward element herewasthe perfect equilateral triangleallegedly
formed by theunintelligent, motorlessballoon parts. Hynek’s* maybe” became*fact”
when the Grudgerecord card waslabeled “BALLOON JAH,” inhonor of J. Allen
Hynek.

Andthen camethe Chiles-Whitted case. Capt. Edward Ruppelt, chief of the UFO
Projectin1951-1953, said:

Accordingtotheoldtimersat ATIC [Wright-Patterson T-2 I ntelligence
divisionwasthen namedAir Technical Intelligence Center], thisreport
shook them worse than the Mantell Incident. Thiswasthefirst time
tworeliable sources had been really close enough to anything resem-
blingaUFOtoget agoodlook andlivetotell aboutit. [Ruppelt, 1956:
40-41]

Between thisevent and the ultimate demise of Project Sign, many other interest-
ing casesand activitiesoccurred; but because of the overriding significanceof this
experiencefor the project’shistory, the other caseswill be (mostly) ignored. From
thispoint forward, the history of Project Sign primarily reflectsthe Chiles-Whitted
caseand thosethoughts, beliefs, and actionsthat becameclosely related toit.

Theobservation occurredintheearly morning hoursof July 24, 1948. An Eastern
Airlinesflight was near Montgomery, Alabama, flying at 5,000 feet and soon to
land. The night wasmainly clear. Pil ot Clarence Chilesand copil ot John Whitted
were at the controls. Most of the passengerswere asleep. Ahead of the plane and
slightly above (the pil otsestimated about 5,500 feet), aflying object cameinto view.
Chilessaid toWhitted: “ Look, there comesone of those new jet jobs.” Asthedevice
camenearer, they became more amazed. It was shaped likeaDC-6, but with neither
wingsnor tail: a“flying fuselage.” It seemed to beabout 100 feet longwith abarrel
diameter about threetimesthat of aB-29. At an estimated 500 milesper hour it took
about 10 secondsto passtheir planeand pull up sharply through the broken clouds
overhead. They estimated its closest approach to be about half amile. Thedevice
wasdark at thefront with ablue glow underneath. Red-orangej et exhausts spewed
out 30 feet behind. Themost spectacul ar aspect of itsdesign wastwo double-decked
rowsof brightly lit, large, rectangular windows al ong the sides. Chilesthought he
saw amoredimly lit front-cockpit area. Whitted did not. Thewhol edisplay seemed
alot brighter and morevividto Chilesthanit did to Whitted. Still, ingeneral esti-
mates and configuration, thetwo pilotsconcurred.

TheEasternflight landed shortly afterwardsand the pil otsreported everythingto
their managers. Eastern rel eased the reported detail sto the newspapersthat day. The
caseimmediately made national news: “ Buck Rogers-like Plane Passes 2 Airline
Pilots!” Everyonewasreading the story the evening of July 24. It caught the atten-
tion of the Pentagon aswell. The next day, Chief of Air ForceIntelligence Gen.
Cabell phoned McCoy'’s office at Wright-Patterson. Sign wasordered to get into the
fieldimmediately and investigate. By that afternoon, L oedding, Deyarmond, and
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Llewellynwere being flown by Capt. Clarence Groseclose toAtlanta. They met
ChilesandWhittedinthe Henry Grady Hotel the next day.

Theinterviewers (L oedding and Deyarmond) wereimpressed. Thepilotstoldtheir
stories, asrecounted above, and were consistent. Both pilotshad been military veter-
ansand had good commercial reputations. Chilesparticularly wasconsidered by his
bossesto be outstanding. L oedding, an excellent aeroengineer who leaned towards
theextraterrestrial hypothesis, must have been stunned. Deyarmond seemed amore
grounded military engineer, but hetoo had to be enthusiastic. Thisseemed to bethe
case Signwaslookingfor. Later, Llewellynwasabletolocateand interview thelone
passenger who had awakened and noticed something. He only saw the bright red-
orangeexhaust of theretreating object and no details. Still, it wasasmall corrobora-
tion. Presumably, as Cabell himself had ordered this, they made some preliminary
report to the Pentagon and began their analysisback at Wright-Patterson.

The piecesof Sign’sthinking coal esced around this case during A ugust and Sep-
tember of 1948. Inthefirst week of August they received word of anindependent
ground witness (an experienced observer onamilitary base) tothe Chiles-Whitted
object. They immediately requested detailsfrom the base. Although official forms
took about amonthto arrive, thiswasanother corroboration. Cross-checking anoma-
lous cases, they noted that an apparently identical object had been sighted over The
Hague, Netherlands, on July 20. They also recall ed the wave of so-called “ ghost
rocket” sightingsover Scandinaviain 1946 and early 1947—morejet-propelled,
flying fuselages. They requested special interviewsfor moreinformation onAugust
19. Itlooked likethe Chiles-Whitted object wasthereal thing.

But how couldit fly? It wastheexploration of thisquestionthat, | believe, finally
tipped the balance. The object wasawingless, taillessfuselage. It wasnot simply a
missile; it had windows, ergo, presumably, pilotsand passengers. It must beableto
take off, maneuver, and land. But how?Thisisexactly the sort of problemthat air-
intelligence engineerslove. When they doveintoit and (in their minds) came up
withthesolution, it placed thelast powerful overlay of reality ontheinvestigation.
They found their aerodynamic answers in the advanced theories of the German
aerodesigngeniuses. Ludwig Prandtl’stheory of lift provided not only therationale
of how such an object could fly, but al so aguesstimate of therequired power plant
(USAFAMC, 1949a). Thelatter thentook them thefinal step intotheLand of Oz.
Conventional power plantswerenowhere near sufficient. It woul d take something
much more powerful tofly the Chiles-Whitted object . . . perhaps something nucl ear.

Thisinvestigative odyssey must have been asexciting asit wasastounding. Nucl ear-
powered aircraft, or something even moreunsuspected. Wecouldn't do it. The Sovi-
etscouldn't doit. Sometimeduring all of thisthe project personnel must have won-
dered about the correl ationsthat they felt they were finding between UFO events
and close approachesof theinner solar-system planets. Based onthese correl ations
and their new conviction about Chiles-Whitted, Signlater sent noticeto the Penta-
gonto alert all operatives, bases, and the other servicesto the potential for new
UFOsreportsinmid-October (Earle, 1948).
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THE ESTIMATE OF THE SITUATION

I'n September 1948, Sign heard the detail sof the Chiles-Whitted ground-witness
corroboration. Thethird qualified observer had seen acylindrical object jetting red-
orange exhaust over RobinsAFB in Georgia, onehour earlier. It washeading in the
direction of Montgomery. Project officer Capt. Robert Sneider had decided that the
timehad cometo climax the project’stask and writetherequired “ Estimate of the
Situation.” Every intelligence operation’stask was ultimately to present such abest-
guess summary, strongly backed with as much fact (“proof”) as possible. Using
Chiles-Whitted asthe core, and coll ecting around it many casesfrom the summer of
1947 to September 1948, Sneider composed thefateful document. Thelatest case
known to have been utilized in the document took place on September 23, at L os
AlamosNational Laboratory.

Weknow that two prominent Air Forceintelligence officers (Ruppelt and Fournet)
saw thedocument in 1952. Ruppelt describedit:

It wasarather thick document with ablack cover andit was printed on
legal-sized paper. Stamped across the front were the words TOP
SECRET. [Ruppelt, 1956: 41]

Asproject officer, Sneider would have been the primary author. Throughout this
era, several other staff memberstypically gotinvolvedinapproval sand sign-offson
draftsand reports. Deyarmond, L oedding, and Truettner almost certainly were part
of thewriting. Llewellyn certainly looked in.All these people, aswell ashigher-ups
inClingerman’sand M cCoy'’s offices, had to approve, at | east in some sense.And an
Estimate of UFOsasextraterrestrial would have been no small thing to assent to.

No onecan giveadetailed description of the contents of thisfamousyet mysteri-
ousdocument, asit hasnot been availablefor modern analyststoread. Yet thefol -
lowing cryptic description by Ruppelt, only thelast paragraph of which madeitinto
hisbook, offerssomehints:

Asdocumented proof, many unexplained sightingswere quoted. The
original UFO sighting by KennethArnold; the seriesof sightingsfrom
thesecretAir ForceTest Center, MurocAFB; the F-51 pilot’sobserva-
tion of aformation of spheresnear L ake M eade; thereport of an F-80
pilot who saw two round objects diving toward the ground near the
Grand Canyon; and areport by the pilot of an |daho National Guard T-
6 trainer, who saw aviolently maneuvering black object.

Asfurther documentation, thereport quoted aninterview with an
Air Force M ajor fromthe Rapid City AFB (now EllsworthAFB) who
saw twelve UFO’sflying atight diamond formation. When hefirst saw
them they were high but soon they went into afantastically high speed
dive, leveled out, made aperfect formation turn, and climbed at a30to
40degreeangle, accelerating all thetime. The UFO’swereoval-shaped
and brilliant yellowish-white.
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Alsoincluded wasone of thereportsfromtheAEC's L osAlamos
Laboratory. Theincident occurred at 9:40AM on September 23, 1948.
A group of peoplewerewaiting for anairplaneat thelanding stripin
L osAlamoswhen one of them noticed something glintinthesun. It
wasaflat, circular object, highinthenorthern sky. Theappearanceand
relativesizewasthe sameasadimeheld edgewiseand slightly tipped,
about 50 feet away.

Thedocument pointed out that the reportshadn’t actual ly started
with theArnold Incident. Belated reportsfrom aweather observerin
Richmond, Virginia, who observed a“silver disk” through histheodo-
litetelescope; an F-47 pilot, and threepilotsin hisformation, who saw
a“silver flyingwing”; and the English“ ghost airplanes” that had been
picked up onradar early in 1947, proved thispoint. Although not re-
ceived until after theArnold sighting, they all had taken place earlier.
[Unedited M Sof The Report on Unidentified Flying Objectsin Ruppelt files]

TheEstimatewoul d have been addressed to Chief of Staff Gen. Hoyt Vandenberg,
but it really wasmeant for Director of Intelligence Gen. Charles Cabell. It wasprob-
ably sent near the end of September, just prior to the next stunning UFO case: the
George Gorman “ UFO Dogfight” in Fargo, North Dakota, on October 1 (Ruppelt,
1956: 41-43). It would havelanded in Garrett’s Col | ections office and been hand-
carried to Cabell. Cabell may or may not have been shocked. It ismy guessthat he
and hisoperativesknew what was coming. Very few real surprisesaregood strategy
inmilitary circles. Still, with apro-ETH Wright-Pattersonintelligence group onone
side, ananti-ETH Pentagon I ntelligence Requirements Office on the other, and open-
minded collectionsofficersand the powerful Research and Devel opment chief (Gen.
Donald Putt) in between, Cabell didn’t want to decidethison hisown. He handed
the Estimatefurther upstairsto Vandenberg himself (Ruppelt, 1956: 45).

Upon reflection, thisseemsabit extraordinary. Cabell’sjob wasto deal with these
Estimatesand not burden Vandenberg with them. And Cabell almost certainly hadto
know that thiswascoming. But hestill ducked. Thissituation, UFOsand extrater-
restrials, wastoo big for anyonebut the chief of staff himself to ruleon. Cabell must
have beenin doubt about this, not just about thereality of UFOsbut their extraterres-
trial nature. It was Cabell who reinitiated theWright-Patterson UFO projectin 1951
asaseriousinvestigation and cleaned the anti-ETH elements out of Wright-Patterson
and the Pentagon (Ruppelt, n.d.). And much later, inthe 1960s, Cabell told UFO and
ETH-friendly CIA photo analystArt Lundahl that hestill felt the UFO matter de-
served seriousinvestigation (McDonald, n.d.).

But Vandenberg didn’t have any doubts—not about action anyway. |n what was
apparently avery short time period for contempl ation, the chief sent the Estimate
cascading back down channels to Sign as unacceptable. We don’t know who
Vandenberg consulted or why hedid this, but hewas quick and decisive. Hedid not
want an extraterrestrial assessment. Hewassaying clearly and loudly to Signand
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everyonein between that hewasnot happy withthis.

Thetimetableisuncertain, but afew factsare known. An October 7 document
from Signto Garrett and Cabell isan upbeat Sneider report ontheinitial investiga-
tion of the Gorman dogfight, making the object sound extremely unusual and intel -
ligentinbehavior. Thiswasamost likeasupplement tothe Estimate (Sneider, 1948a).
However, onthe same day aseparate set of |etters, composed not by Sneider but by
S. Z. Hunnicutt, amember of T-2 and the Sign team, and approved by M CI heavy-
weightsMcCoy, Clingerman, and Leland Money, went out to the CIA, U.S. Army
Intelligence, and the Office of Naval Intelligence. The query: What domestic (U.S.)
technol ogical developmentsdo you know of that might explain UFOsand help us
differentiatethem frominimical (Soviet) foreign developments? M cCoy writesin
Hunnicutt’sletter:

To date, no concrete evidence asto the exact identity of any of the
reported objectshasbeenreceived. Similarly, theorigin of the so-called
“flying disks’ remainsobscure. [McCoy, 19484]

Thiscertainly was not the conclusion of the Estimate. McCoy may have already
gottentheword. None of the primary Sign personnel signed off on the draft.

Theintelligenceroil over thisextraterrestrial conclusionfor UFOsmust havebeen
fiercein October. Headquartershad expressed di ssati sfaction over Sign’sviewsbuit,
fueled by theenthusiasm over the Gorman caseinvestigation, Sign wasundaunted at
first. McCoy was caught inthemiddle. Thefact that Sign proceeded withtheir ETH
opinionsintheface of high-level Pentagon oppositionisasource of somewonder.
Either Vandenberg's slap downwasvery mildly delivered, or there was much sup-
port, albeit inthe minority, for therespectability of the ETH in the Pentagon. Other-
wise, McCoy would havereinedin hisstaff at Sign. My guessisthat both conditions
weretrue.

In October, Sign personnel met with Garrett in the Pentagon to make reports,
especially thosefrom foreign sources, moreefficiently transferrableto the project.
Word was spread about the impending new wave of reportsdue soon (which appar-
ently actually happened). Internal memosreferred to the Gorman case as possibly
nuclear-powered and interplanetary. A request was madefor the Rand Corporation
to assessthefeasibility of interplanetary spaceships (Clingerman, 1948a). M ean-
while, opposing elements in the Pentagon were marshalling their forces for a
counterstrike. The most hostile area, the DefensiveAir branch of Air Intelligence,
had been pursuing astudy of “flying saucer tactics” since early August, whenthe
first assessment of the Chiles-Whitted object had reached them. Now AFOAI-DA
brought the Office of Naval Intelligence seriously into thisgame. ONI had been
mildly involved with USAF concernsabout UFOssinceit had requested to bein-
cludedin January 1948 (USN Chief of Naval Intelligence, 1948). Out of thisliaison
would come acounter-ETH report in December. Moreimmediately, AFOAI-DA
and ONI would beginto changethe atmospherein the Pentagon to amorehostile,
overt position. Ultimately these efforts swayed Cabell intowriting afirmletter to
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Wright-Patterson on November 3 (Cabell, 1948a; seeAppendix 2).

It would beinteresting to know who composed this|etter for Cabell to sign. Two
prime candidatesareAFOAI-DA, the office of the consistently anti-ETH saucer-
killer, Maj.Aaron J. Boggs; or the Officeof Director of Estimates, wherein resided
Boggs'smain anti-ETH confederate, Col. E. H. Porter, who wasitsdeputy director.
Essentially, theletter asked Sign for another Estimate. Whileadmitting that the ob-
jectsseemedreal, it al so cautioned that they werenot identified. (Read: You may not
identify them asextraterrestrial craft.) Effortsat identification must be seriousand
increased, since national security wasconcerned. Countermeasures must be consid-
ered.All of thesecommentswerein linewith Boggs'sand Porter’sconcern (aswell
asmany others) that some objectscoul d be Soviet- or Nazi-inspired weaponry. While
Signhad beenimmersedinaworld of investigating essentially local cases, thedarker
Pentagon corridorshad been fixated on the Sovietsand German scientific geniuses.
Two different realitieshad been created.

Wright-Patterson’sresponse wastimely. By November 8, aSign viewpoint was
sent over McCoy’s signature to Cabell and presumably Boggs, Porter, and ONI
(McCoy, 1948b; seeAppendix 3). Theletter, written by Sign operative Deyarmond,
wasovertly submissivebut covertly rebellious. It contained several commentsagreeing
with Cabell that the phenomenon was not i dentifiableand that no concrete physical
proof existedtoidentify it. At the sametimeit dropped all sortsof hints, doubtless
the same argumentsused intheoriginal Estimate, that theobjectsreally wereextra-
terrestrial whether the Pentagon thought so or not: It mentioned the ETH; it men-
tioned plotting wavesagainst planetary approachesand finding acorrelation; it men-
tioned the books of CharlesFort asindicating that thishasbeen going onfor at | east
acentury (Fort, 1941); it mentioned that odd shapes (like Chiles-Whitted) canfly
but require more advanced power plantsthanwehave. Itisinteresting that theletter
waswritten by Al Deyarmond, whowasMcCoy’s ol d WWI1 buddy. One canimag-
inethetwo conferring personally on exactly what tactic Sign could takethat would
still be consistent with what M cCoy waswilling tosay. Theletter seemsvery strate-
gically worded. M cCoy was sympathetic to UFOsand remained so hiswholelife. In
thelate 1950s, stationed inWashington, hewasafrequent and interested visitor at
themajor civilian UFO organizationintheworld, theNational I nvestigations Com-
mittee onAerial Phenomena(Swords, 1997).

SHOWDOWN AND AFTERMATH

The Pentagon surely recognized theletter for what it was: adiplomatic refusal to
giveup. Either it or Signinitiated aconfrontational meeting on thisscheduled for
November 12. Meanwhile, onthe 10th, Deyarmond compl eted hisreassessment of
the Mantell crash from the beginning of theyear. The object could not have been
Venus, he concluded, and thereforewasatrue unidentified. With thisadded ammu-
nition, some Sign personnel trekked to Washington to attempt to convince Cabell
and Vandenberg of the ETH (Ruppelt, 1956: 45). Other than Sneider, we don’t know
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who attended from the pro-ET side. Deyarmond, L oedding, and perhapseven M cCoy
are good candidates. Ruppelt wrotethat a“ group fromATIC” went. The meeting
washeld at the National Bureau of Standards. Again, wedon’t know who attended
ontheD.C. side. Boggsisknown to have beenthere. Ruppelt hintsthat Vandenberg
himself wasthere. Somerepresentative of theAir Force's ScientificAdvisory Board
came (probably Col. Ted Walkowicz). NBS personnel attended. AsEdward Condon
wasthendirector, he may have had astiff introduction to ufology at that time. Oth-
ers, including Cabell, werecertainly present.

| suspect that thiswasthefinal watershed moment for the project. Boggs, Porter,
and ONI essentially won thewar. Suddenly all thebig scientific gunsand overseers
wererequired to peek over Sign’sshouldersand assesstheir work. The Scientific
Advisory Board and George Valley of MIT wereto be made aware of all cases. So
tooBoggs' office, ONI, and maybeeventheNBS(USAF DI, 1948; M cCoy, 1948c;
Clingerman, 1948b; McCoy, 1948d). Hynek wasto be formally commissioned for
an assessment, aswell asIrving Langmuir and Rand. Going back hometo Dayton,
Deyarmond and Truettner went about thelabor of writing the sanitized final Project
Sign report of November 30 (USAFAMC, 1949a). L oedding met with Langmuir
and had hisviewsrebuffed. Hesaid that helearned that “ hisstock wasat an all-time
low” inWashington (Trenton Times-Advertiser, 1954). Sneider continuedto believe
that the Chiles-Whitted case was undeniable evidence, but it wasabattlelost for
almost everyoneelse.

On December 10 thevictorious powersinthe Pentagon published their own ver-
sion of an Estimate—Auir Intelligence Report number 100-203-72, Analysis of Fly-
ing Object IncidentsintheU.S. (USAFAID & USN ONI, 1948). Thiswasthe cul -
mination of AFOAI-DD’swork since early August, augmented by ONI collabora-
tion over the past two months. UFOsare not extraterrestrial (theideawashardly
noticed). UFOs are probably real, but if so thereisasmall chancethat they are
Soviet and thereforedangerous. All inall, theword “ Soviet” dominatesthe com-
mentary. Thisestimate, likethat of Sign, wasclassified top secret. Sign’s Estimate
wasordered destroyed. Six dayslater, thedirector of research and devel opment or-
dered that the codeword Sign be changed to Grudge. Ruppelt said that the choice of
wordswasnot random (Ruppelt, 1956: 59-60). TheAir Force boreagrudge against
UFQOreports. Onewould guessthat quite afew grudges remained among the con-
tendingintelligence elements. Ruppelt said that by the end of 1948 themoraleonthe
project wasvery low and no onewanted to do thework any more. Sneider persisted
with hisanalysisof the Chiles-Whitted object, and hisfive-page summary, Air Intel-
ligence Report number 102-122-79, was forwarded to Cabell on December 20
(Sneider, 1948b). It hasbeen called, probably insightfully, “ The Ghost of the Esti-
mate” by some UFO researchers. Report no. 100-203-72 hasalso been given this
nickname, muchlessinsightfully. It might more properly belabeled “ TheAssassin
of the Estimate.”

By the beginning of 1949, Sign personnel had begunto evaporate. L oedding dis-
appeared from project records. Deyarmond’s attention went el sewhere. Truettner
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made onelast seriousattempt at interviewing about nuclear propulsion (at Oak Ridge),
and was given anegative opinion on UFOs by Col. Wassell. He, too, disappeared
fromthe project. Thecivilian memberswererelieved of their dutiesand reassigned
toother intelligencetaskswithinT-2. For Loeddingin particular, hisrole and pres-
tigewerenever the same. After afew further yearsof intelligencework, both heand
Truettner left AMC. For the higher military ranks (Ll1ewelyn and Sneider), all we
know isthat they were soon no longer involved, perhaps not even assigned to the
same base. Even Clingerman and M cCoy becamelessinvolved, perhaps because
they had al so heard that their tenureswould soon be up and they woul d be sent to
school and thentransferred. Theonly personsleft active on the project weretwo of
thelower ranks: Lieut. Howard Smith and civilian George Towles. Their job was
reduced basically to collectionand filing. Inthiscondition, or worse, would remain
theAir Forcecommitment to aUFO investigation project until the summer of 1951
two yearsof neglect (Ruppelt, 1956: 59-95).

The Estimate and Sign had their revenge, however, in an unintended way. For
whatever reason, the public and the mediahad become moreinterested in UFOsat
theturn of theyear. Perhapsthe Mantell, Chiles-Whitted, and Gorman caseswere
having an effect on popular opinion, aswell as behind the doors of secrecy. Or
perhaps the doors of secrecy were leaky. Either way, the media was becoming
proactively interested (Shal ett, 1949). Sidney Shalett’s push into the Pentagon to get
Defense chief Forrestal’s permission for a Saturday Evening Post article was the
most spectacular exampl e of this, but other magazinessuch asArgosy and Truewere
snooping around aswell (Moorehouse, 1949; Keyhoe, 1950a). Shal ett visited the
Pentagon and Wright-Pattersonin early 1949, and got caseinformation and quotes
for histwo-part articlethat would appear inApril 1949 (Clingerman, 1949a). While
hewas collecting information, two things happened directly related to our story. The
first wasthat the Pentagonreally didn’t liketheideaof acivilian press person mess-
ing around aclassified subject and thenwriting a“ Lord knowswhat” rendition of
what he’ d found with apparent government approval (Cabell, 1948b). Therefore, the
Pentagon determined to produceitsown more elaborate report to berel eased simul -
taneously with the Post article (Boggs, 1949).

Thesecond awkward moment occurred whenWalter Winchell apparently wasgiven
a“ Pentagonrumor” that the UFOswere Soviet missiles, and announced asmuch on
hisnational radio program (Clingerman, 1949b). The rumor was pretty much what
some Pentagon | oose cannonswould have saidif they had been privy totheinforma-
tion and attitude of Air Intelligence Report number 100-203-79, the so-called “ As-
sassin of the Estimate.” By killing the Estimate, the Pentagon had produced an awk-
ward and unhel pful rumor that they hurried to deny, but which stuck in many citi-
zens minds.

ThePentagonwasclear initsintent to createand rel ease acountering UFO report,
but it blundered in executing thetask. Whoever wasresponsible did not usetheAIR
information or perspective, or astrong debunking attitude of any kind. Instead, the
report—called Project Saucer to match the nickname given Shalett to usein his
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article—waswritteninthemildest agnostic tradition of the post-Vandenberg Project
Sign (USNME, 1949). It read likeasanitized Estimate.

How thisUFO-friendly report wasrel eased isitself amystery. Someoneat AMC
inthe Public Relations Office had written something called “ Flying Saucer Story,”
whichwasaimed at public releasein order to givetheofficial story. Thiswasde-
scribed asan article, whereasthe Project Saucer pressrel ease was 22 pages|ong.
Still, they may have been oneand the same.

Thisarticlewas shipped to the Pentagon’sdirector of publicrelations, and from
theretotheIntelligence Department. There some disagreement occurred between
Boggs, Brig. Gen. Moore, and Cabell (Boggs, 1949). Apparently Cabell himself
approved thefriendlier Project Saucer rel ease, coming down squarely betweenthe
attitude of the Estimate and the attitude of hisantipathetic underlings Boggs and
Moore. Alinefrom Boggs'smemorandum cited abovereadslikeacomment from
Cabell:

AFOIN [Cabell] found no groundsfor denying informationto the press
onincidentsandinvestigativeaccomplishmentssuch aswerefurnished
Mr. Shalett.

Whether the busy general had timeto think through all the aspects of thisdecision
can bedebated.

So the Pentagon’s poor communi cations and blundering had produced the exact
opposite effect from what they had seemingly intended: Shalett’sarticle wasthe
mai nly debunking publication and the Pentagon’sreleaselooked likeacorrectivein
the pro-UFO, amazing-unidentified-technol ogy direction.

Theindividual most confused by all thiswasafreelancewriter broughtinby True
magazineinthe hopesof getting moreinformation ontheflying disks. The Project
Saucer rel ease convinced him to make aseriousinvestigation, which got moreand
morefascinating. This, of course, was Donald E. Keyhoe: the Ultimate“ Revenge of
the Estimate,” and an ongoing nightmare for theAir Force for the next 20 years
(Keyhoe, 1950b, 1953; Swords, 1996; Jacobs, 1975).
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APPENDIX 1
GEORGE GARRETT'S FIRST ESTIMATE

FLYINGDISCS
30July 1947

For purposes of analysisby AFBIR-CO, eighteen reported sightings of “ Flying
Discs” were selected for breakdown into detailed particul ars. Each report was as-
signed anumber and each number appearsintheleft-hand column of thedataon the
following pages.

Onereport, Number 7, hasnot yet been received and thereforenoinformationis
included other than Date, Name of Observer, and Location. The FourthAir Forceis
attempting to secure astatement from thisobserver.

Four reports, Numbers2, 4, 17, and 18, have not yet been analyzed.

The subject headings on which the breakdown hasbeen made are:

Date

Hour (Local standard Time)
Location

Observer’'sName
Observer’sOccupation
Observed from Ground or Air
Number of Objects Sighted
Altitude

Direction of Flight

Speed

Distance Covered

Length of Timein Sight
Deviationfrom Straight Flight
Color

Size

Shape

Sound

Trail

Weather

Manner of Disappearance
Remarks



58 JOURNAL OFUFO STUDIES
Report Date *Hour Location
1 19May 1215 Manitou Springs, Colorado
2 22 May OklahomaCity, Oklahoma
3 22 June 1130 Greenfield, Massachusetts
4 24 June Mt. Rainier, Washington
5 28 June 2120 Maxwell Field, Alabama
6 29 June 1330 Near White Sands, New Mexico
7 1July Bakersfield, California
8 4 July 2015 Emmett, Idaho
9 6 July 1345 Clay Center, Kansas
10 6 July Fairfield-Suisun, California
11 7 duly 1145 Koshkonong, Wisconsin
12 7 duly 1430 East Troy, Wisconsin
13 8 July 1550 Mt. Baldy, California
14 9July 2330 Grand Falls, Newfoundland
15 10 July 1600 Harmon Field, Newfoundland
16 12 July 1830 Elmendorf Field, Alaska
* Local Standard Time
Report Observer’'sName Occupation Observed From
1 Railroad Employee Ground
2 Businessman-Pilot Ground
3 *Not stated Ground
4 Businessman-Pilot Air
5 Captain, AAF Ground
1st Lieut., AAF "
6 Employee, NRL Ground
Wifeof "
7 CivilianPilot Ground
8 UnitedAir LinesPilot Air
""" Co-Pilot "
9 Major, AAF Air
10 Captain, AAF Ground
11 CAPInstructor Air
CAP Student "
12 CAPPilot Air
CAPPassenger "
13 1st Lieut., ACCNG Air
14 Constable, Newfoundland Ground
Constabulary
15 TWA Representative Ground
PAA " "
16 Major, AAF Ground

*From | etter received, observer isobviously well educated.
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Report Deviationfrom Straight Flight Color Size
1  Climbed, dove, hovered overhead, re- Silver Apparently small
sumed original course
2
3 Nonereported Silver, very Small
bright
4
5  Zigzagcourse“muchlikeawater- Brilliance Not stated
bug” slightly great-
er than astar
6  Nonereported Somesolar spec-  Not stated
ular reflection
7
8  Nonereported Almost dusk; Impossibleto
couldnot dis- determine
tinguish
9  Nonereported Very bright and 30-50" in diameter
silvery colored
10  Nonereported Reflectionfrom Comparabletoa
sun C-54 at 10,000
11 Descended edgewise, stopped at 4,000 Not stated Not stated
and assumed horizontal position. Pro-
ceededinhorizontal flight for 15
seconds, stopped again, then disapp-
eared
12 Nonereported Not stated Not stated
13 Nonereported Of light-reflec- Apparent depth of
ting nature aP-51
14  Nonereported Phosphorous Not stated
color
15  Nonereported Silvery Samespanasa
C-54 at 10,000
16  Followed contoursof mountainsfive Resembled a Approx.10'in
milesaway from observers grayishballoon diameter
Report Shape Sound Trail Weather
1  Nodefiniteshapecouldbe None None CAVU
determined
2
3 Irregular; round, Did not None None Not stated
appear particularly disc-
shaped
4
5 Nonestated; seemedlike None None Clear moonlight
abrightlight
6  Nodetailsother thanthat None Possiblevapor CAVU

shapewasuniformwith no
protuberances

trails
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Report Shape Sound Trail Weather
8 Nonedefinite, but seemed None None CAVU
flat on basewiththetop
slightly roughin contour
9 Round, disc-shaped None None CAVU
10  Noshapecouldbedisting- None None Sunny
uished
11 Not stated, but report re- None None CAVU
fersto“saucer” several
times
12 SameasReport No. 11 None None CAVU
13 Flatobject, of light-re- None None Not stated
flecting naturewhich appear-
ed to bewithout vertical
finor any visiblewings
14  Egg-shaped, or likebarrel None None CAVU
head
15  Circularinshape, like None Bluish black Clear with scat-
wagonwheel trail approx. tered cumulus
15mi.long at 8to 10,000'
16  Resembledballoon None None Not stated
Report Manner of Disappearance Remarks
1 Climbed very fast and out of sight No definite shape could be determined
and even with theaid of 4to 6 pow-
er binocul arsobject could not be
brought into focus
2
3 Obscured by acloud bank From letter thisobserver wrote, it
isobviousheisawell-educated
person. Seeksno publicity.
4
5 Lostinbrilliancy of themoon Observers(2rated, 2air intell.)
phoned Field Opsto ascertain no
scheduled experimental a/cwerein
vicinity. Sky chart attached to re[port?]
6 Cannot explain, except that reflec- Observer isAdmin.Asst. inthe Rock-
tion anglemay havechanged abruptly et Sonde Sect. of NRL. Two other
“scientists’, and wife of one, were
in party and made same observation
7
8 Don't know whether they put onatre- ObserverswerePilot, Co-Pilot, of
mendous burst of speed, or disinteg- scheduled UAL DC-3. Stewardessal so
rated. However, they did disappear saw objects. Suggest reading of very
into sunset detail ed statements.
9 Unexplained When first sighting object near hor-

izon, observer looked at chartin
hislap to check position. When he
looked out window again, object was
off hisleft wing at 11 0’ clock
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10

11
12
13

14
15

16
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Manner of Disappearance Remarks

Disappeared at an angle of about 30° Rolled fromsideto side 3timesin

abovetheearth’ssurface itspath acrossthe sky. Sunreflect-
ed fromtop side, but never from und-
erside, evenwhenturning

Unexplained None

Unexplained None

Pilot (at 300 MPH) attemptedtokeep  Observer contacted basesin areaw[hich?]
object insight, but unableto do so reportednoa/cinair at time
Unexplained First4discsflyingline-a-trail
Unexplained Seemed to cut cloudsopen asit

passed thru. Trail waslikebeam
seen after ahigh-powered landing
lightisswitched off.

Not stated Object wasobserved paralleling the
courseof aC-47 thenlanding.

From detailed study of reportsselected for their impression of veracity andreli-
ability, several conclusionshave beenformed:

(& This“flyingsaucer” situationisnot all imaginary or seeing too muchinsome
natural phenomenon. Somethingisreally flying around.

(b) Lack of topsideinquiries, when compared to the prompt and demanding in-
quiriesthat have originated topside upon former events, give morethan ordinary
weight to the possibility that thisisadomestic project, about which the President,
etc. know.

(c) Whatever theobjectsare, thismuch can be said of their physical appearance:

1
2.

Thesurfaceof these objectsismetallic, indicating ametallic skin, at least.
When atrail isobserved, itislightly colored, aBlue-Brown haze, that is
similar toarocket engine'sexhaust. Contrary to arocket of the solid type,
oneobservationindicatesthat thefuel may bethrottled whichwouldindi-
catealiquidrocket engine.

Asto shape, all observations statethat the object iscircular or at least
elliptical, flat onthe bottom and slightly domed on thetop. The size esti-
mates placeit somewherenear the size of aC-54 or aConstellation.
Somereportsdescribetwotabs, located at the rear and symmetrical about
theaxisof flight motion.

Flightshave been reportred, from threeto nine of them, flying good for-
mation on each other, with speeds alwaysabove 300 knots.
Thediscsoscillatelaterally whileflying along, which could be snaking.
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APPENDIX 2
MaJ. GeN. CABELL PRESSURES PrROJECT SiGN

Department of theAir Force
HeadquartersUnited StatesAir Force
Washington
3Nov 1948

SUBJECT: Flying Object Incidentsinthe United States
TO: Commanding General, Air Materiel Command
Wright-PattersonAir Force Base
Dayton, Ohio

1. By letter dated 30 December 1947 fromthe Director of Research and Devel op-
ment, Headquarters USAF, your Headquarters was required to establish Project
“SIGN".

2. Theconclusion appearsinescapablethat sometype of flying object hasbeen
observed. | dentification and the origin of these objectsisnot discernibleto thisHead-
quarters. Itisimperative, therefore, that effortsto determinewhether these objects
are of domestic or foreign origin must beincreased until conclusive evidenceis
obtained. The needs of national defenserequire such evidencein order that appro-
priate countermeasuresmay betaken.

3. Inadditiontotheimperative need for evidenceto permit countermeasures, is
the necessity of informing the public asto the status of the problem. To date there
hasbeentoolittledatato present to the public. Thepress, however, isabout to take
itintoitsown handsand demand to be told what we do or do not know about the
situation. Silence on our part will not long be acceptable.

4. Requestimmediateinformationastoyour conclusionsto dateand your recom-
mendationsasto theinformation to be givento the press. Your recommendationis
requested al so asto whether that i nformation should be offered to the press or with-
held until itisactively sought by the press.

BY COMMAND OF THE CHIEF OF STAFF:
Isig/

C.PCABELL

Major General, USAF

Director of Intelligence, Office of
Deputy Chief of Staff, Operations
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APPENDIX 3
CoL. McCoy REPLIES

BasicltrfrHqQUSAF, 3 Nov 48to CG,AMC, “Flying Object IncidentsintheUnited
States’
1stind MCIAT/ABD/amb

HqAMC, Wright-PattersonAir Force Base, Dayton, Ohio. 8 Nov 48
TO: Chief of Staff, United StatesAir Force, Washington 25, D. C.,ATTN: AFOIR

1. Inattempting to arrive at conclusionsasto the nature of unidentified flying
object incidentsin the United States, this Command has made a study of approxi-
mately 180 suchincidents. Dataderived frominitial reportshave been supplemented
by further information obtai ned from check lists submitted by mail, frominterroga-
tionsof other field agencies, and by personal investigation by personnel of thisCom-
mand inthe case of incidentsthat seemto indicate the possibility of obtaining par-
ticularly significant information.

2. Theobjectsdescribed fall into thefollowing general classification groups, ac-
cording to shapeor physical configuration:

a. Flatdiscof circular or approximately circular shape.

b. Torpedo or cigar shaped aircraft, with nowingsor finsvisibleinflight.
c. Spherical or balloon shaped objects.

d. Ballsof light with no apparent form attached.

3. Someof the objectssighted havedefinitely beenidentified, uponfurther inves-
tigation, asweather or upper air scientific balloons of sometype. A great many of
theround or balloon shaped objectsindicated in paragraph 2c above are probably of
the samenature, although in most cases, definite confirmation of that fact hasbeen
impossibleto obtain.

4. Someof the objectshavebeenidentified asbeing astro-physical in nature. For
example, indaylight sightings, the planet Venus has been reported asaround, sil-
very object at extremely high altitude. Actionisbeing takento obtain the services of
aprominent astro-physicist asaconsultant, to study all of theincidentsto determine
whether some can beidentified asmeteors, planetsor other manifestationsof astral
bodies.

5. Arrangementsfor accomplishing a study of the psychological problemsin-
volvedinthisproject arebeing madein coordination withtheAero-Medical Labora
tory at thisHeadquarters. The possibility that some of the sightingsare hallucina-
tions, optical illusionsor even deliberate hoaxes hasbeen considered.

6. Although explanation of many of theincidentscan beobtained from theinves-
tigationsdescribed above, there remainsacertain number of reportsfor which no
reasonableeveryday explanationisavailable. Sofar, no physical evidence of the
existence of the unidentified sightings has been obtai ned. Prominent scientists, in-
cluding Dr. Irving Langmuir of the General Electric Company, havebeeninterviewed
to determinewhether they could advance any reasonabl e explanation for character-
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isticsexhibited by the objectssighted. Inan early interview, Dr. Langmuir indicated
that theseincidents could be explained, but insufficient datawere available at that
timeonwhichto base definiteconclusions. It isplanned to have another interview
with Dr. Langmuir inthe near futureto review all the datanow available, anditis
hoped that hewill be ableto present some opinion asto the nature of many of the
unidentified objects, particularly thosedescribed as“ balls of light.”

7. All information that has been made availableto thisHeadquartersindicates
that the discs, the cigar shaped objects, and the“ ballsof light” are not of domestic
origin. Engineering investigationindicatesthat disc or winglessaircraft could sup-
port themselvesin flight by aerodynamic means. It isprobabl ethat the problems of
stability and control could also be solved for such aircraft. However, according to
current aerodynamictheory inthiscountry, aircraft with such configurationswould
haverelatively poor climb, altitude and range characteristicswith power plantsnow
inuse.

8. Thepossibility that the reported objectsare vehiclesfrom another planet has
not beenignored. However, tangibl e evidenceto support conclusions about such a
possibility are completely lacking. The occurrence of incidentsinrelation to the
approach of the earth of the planets M ercury, Venusand Marshave been plotted. A
periodicvariationinthefrequency of incidents, which appearsto have somerelation
totheplanet approach curves, isnoted, but it may be purely acoincidence.

9. Referenceismadeto “The Books of Charles Fort” with an introduction by
Tiffany Thayer, published 1941, by Henry Holt & Co., New York, N.Y. It appears
that similar phenomenahave been noted and reported for the past century or more.

10. Inview of theabove, thefollowing conclusionsaredrawn:

a. Inthemajority of casesreported, observershave actually sighted some
type of flying object which they cannot classify asan aircraft withinthe
limitsof their personal experience.

b. Thereisasyet noconclusive proof that unidentified flying objects, other
thanthosewhich areknownto beballoons, arereal aircraft.

c. Althoughitisobviousthat sometypesof flying objectshavebeen sighted,
the exact nature of those objects cannot be established until physical evi-
dence, such asthat whichwould result from acrash, hasbeen obtained.

11. Itisnot considered advisableto present to the pressinformation on those
objectswhichwe cannot yet identify or about which we cannot present any reason-
able conclusions. In the event that they insist on somekind of astatement, itis
suggested that they beinformed that many of the objectssighted have beenidenti-
fied asweather balloonsor astral bodies, and that investigation isbeing pursued to
determinereasonabl e explanationsfor theothers.

12. A report, summarizing theresults obtained from analysisof the dataand a
technical investigation of the engineering aspectsof the objectsdescribed, isnearly
complete, and acopy will beforwarded to your Headquartersin the near future.

FORTHECOMMANDING GENERAL

H. M. McCOY, Colonel, USAF
Chief, Intelligence Department



